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TO: Public Utility Commission
FROM: Paul Rossow R
o - 70

THROUGH: Jason Eisdorfer and JP Batmale

SUBJECT: OREGON PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION STAFF:
(Docket No. UM 1631) Request by Cheston Zimmer of Energy Solutions
on behalf of the Home Owners Association of West Hayden Island
Moorage for waiver from the two-feeder prohibition on aggregation for net |
metering requirement pursuant to OAR 860-039-0065(1)(c). '

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Commission deny the request by Cheston Zimmer (Mr. Zimmer) |
to waive the requirement that the designated meter and the aggregated meters be on
the same primary feeder.

DISCUSSION:

Issue

Whether the Commission should approve Mr. Zimmer's request to waive Oregon
Administrative Rule requirement that the designated meter and the aggregated meters
be served by the same primary feeder at the time of application.

Applicable Law

OAR 860-039-0065(1)(c) states that for the purpose of measuring electricity usage

under the net metering program, a public utility must, upon request from a Customer- ,
generator, aggregate for billing purposes the meter that is physically attached to the net

metering facility ("designated meter") with one or more meters ("aggregated meter") in

the manner set out in this rule. This rule is mandatory upon the public utility only when:
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{c) The designated meter and the aggregated meters are served by the same
primary feeder at the time of application.

The evaluation criterion set forth in OAR 860-039-0005(2) for waiver of Division 039
rules is “good cause shown.” The Commission has discretion to determine what
constitutes “good cause.”

Analysis

On August 10, 2017, Mr. Zimmer of Energy Solutions filed a request for a waiver under
OAR 860-039-0005(2) to waive the requirement under OAR 860-039-0065(1)(c) that the
designated and aggregated meters be on the same feeder for purposes of net metering.
Mr. Zimmer filed the request on behalf of the Home Owners Association of West
Hayden Island Moorage (HOA or Customer-generator).

The Project
Mr. Zimmer explains that the HOA is looking to offset 100 percent of the energy usage

for three Portland General Electric Company (PGE) meters that are paid from monthly
HOA dues. The three meters are located on contiguous property and operate on two
different feeders. The North Shore Feeder serves the designated parking structure
meter and the security gate meter, which already qualifies as an aggregated meter.

The South Shore Feeder serves the water pumping station meter, which is currently not
eligible for meter aggregation under the same primary feeder rule.

The HOA meters are billed under Schedule 32, Small Nonresidential Standard Service
and are receiving the Energy Trust of Oregon’s commercial solar incentive for this solar
project. The project has not yet been constructed.

OAR 860-039-0065(3) states that “A Customer-generator must give at least 60 days
notice to the utility to request that additional meters be included in meter aggregation.”
According to both parties, there was no indication of participating in meter aggregation
until after the Application for Net Metering Facility Interconnection (Application) was
submitted to PGE.

Waiver request
Mr. Zimmer states in the application for waiver that “[a]s it currently stands, the output

from the 49.68 kilowatt solar array will exceed the annual usage of the two qualifying
meters. We are requesting a waiver of Rule 869-039-0065(c), so that the third meter
(pump meter) can be aggregated for the purpose of applying excess solar generation to
all three of their electricity bills.”

1 UM 1631 Hayden island Aggregation of PGE meters / Division 039 waiver request.
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PGE'’s concerns
PGE’s concerns with the application for waiver are that similarly situated customers

have not been allowed to aggregate multiple meters under similar circumstances. And,
PGE views the rule allowing meter aggregation as an exception to general net metering
practices that require the solar PV be located behind the meter. PGE believes requiring
that any aggregated meters be served by the same feeder is a reasonable limitation on

-the use of meter aggregation.

Staff's review

It is Staff’'s understanding that OAR 860-039-0065(1)(c) requires that aggregated
meters be on the same primary feeder to ensure that power from a customer’s
generation does not flow through the distribution substation to get to the customer's
load. Netting the generation and load on a single feeder reduces the need for
distribution investments to serve net metering customers.? This requirement is also in

PGE's net metering tariff (Schedule 203).

Staff's understanding of the HOA'’s reasons are that the waiver (1) will ensure that the
HOA receives 100 percent of the monetary value of the solar generation; (2) will reduce
the HOA's shared utility bill from the energy generated by all three meters; (3) applies to
three meters on the same contiguous property; (4) applies to three meters/biils paid by
the same entity; (5) is for an unusual situation in that the contiguous property is served
from two different feeders; and (6) because the HOA has already paid additional costs
to upgrade an existing 15 kVA PGE transformer to a 50 kVA transformer in order to
install the 49.68 kilowatt system.

Staff spoke with PGE to identify possible options for meeting the HOA'’s sustainability
goal. The only alternative to the waiver of the same primary feeder requirement using
the current design of the proposed solar PV system involves rewiring the water pump
meter, which is approximately 350 feet from the closest point on PGE’s Noirth Shore
feeder. In order to rewire the water pump meter, a considerable amount of work would
need to be done such as; digging up the parking lot, trenching, installing new conduit
and wiring, and the transformer would need to be relocated. With these additional costs
this option is likely to be cost prohibitive for the HOA.

Finally, Staff compared a copy of the submitted Application with an electronic version
currently located on PGE’s website and discovered that the submitted Application
version does not specifically question the Customer-generator if they intend to
participate in meter aggregation. Though the submitted application did not specifically

? See Order No. 12-471, Appendix; Staff Report re: In the Matter of JOHN FOX Request for Waiver of
QAR 860-039-0065.
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ask if the Customer-generator intends to participate in meter aggregation, Staff believes
that it is the responsibility of Customer-generators and contractors to read and
understand the current requirements for aggregation in Oregon’s Administrative Net
Metering Rules 860-039-0005 through 860-039-0080 and PGE’s net metering tariff

(Schedule 203).

Staff conclusions

The Customer-generator seeks a waiver of the same primary feeder requirement to
obtain maximum value from its recent investment to upgrade PGE's fransformer and its
planned solar PV project and to offset as much of its usage as possible to become

100 percent sustainable. Staff does not believe the Customer-generator’s interest in
maximizing the value of its investment or its goal to offset 100 percent of its usage are
sufficient to establish good cause to waive the same primary feeder requirement.

Staff understands from PGE that it is not uncommon for small nonresidential standard
service customers to be served by more than one primary feeder at the same premises.
Presumably, at least some of these similarly-situated customers would also be
interested in installing a solar system that is large enough to offset all their usage, not
just the usage served by one of the two or more primary feeders serving their premises.
Notwithstanding customers’ potential interest in offsetting all generation at a single site,
the Commission has decided to limit Customer-generators’ ability to aggregate multiple
meters and only allows aggregation of meters served by the same primary feeder.
Accordingly, the fact the limitation prevents the Customer-generator from offsetting its
entire ioad is not good cause to waive the limitation.

It is Staff's understanding that PGE has consistently declined to allow customers to
aggregate meters served by different primary feeders for purposes of net metering.
And, Staff is aware of only one instance in which the Commission has approved a
request for waiver of the same feeder requirement. However, the circumstances
underlying that request are distinguishable because the customer was a residential
customer and the project was already built. According to the Staff report regarding the
application for waiver, it is almost unknown for a residential customer to be served at a
contiguous property by two primary feeders.? In the case of the residential customer,
there was less risk that granting the waiver would lead to additional waiver requests.
Also, because the project was already built, the customer did not have the option of
simply re-sizing the planed solar system so that it would only offset usage of the meter
or meters served by one primary feeder.

3d.
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In contrast, a waiver in this case could lead to additional waiver requests from other
small nonresidential customers that would like to maximize the value of solar PV
systems on premises served by more than one primary feeder. And, the solar PV
system in this case has not yet been installed. The Customer-generator could install a
smaller PV system to match the generation to the usage of a meter or meters served by

the same primary feeder.

Staff conferred with PGE and Mr. Zimmer regarding the status of the respective project
and confirmed the facts that are set forth above.

PROPOSED COMMISSION MOTION:

Deny Mr. Zimmer’s request under 860-039-0005(2), to waive the requirement under
OAR 860-039-0065(1)(c) that aggregated meters be on the same feeder.

UM 1631 waiver of OAR 860-039-0065(1)(c)




